THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 24 2018

Case No. 2018-000395

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Gerard E. Ziegler; Brenda Barrington III; James Stephen Green, Jr.; William A. Harbeson; David Messinger; South Carolina Public Interest Foundation; and Dorchester County Taxpayers Association, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated..... Appellants,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WHEN DECIDING WHETHER A PARTICULAR BOND REFERENDUM QUESTION COULD BE MISLEADING OR COULD DISTORT THE VOTING RESULTS IS A FACTUAL DETERMINATION?
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION GIVES THE DORCHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL THE AUTHORITY TO COMBINE MULTIPLE SEPARATE ISSUES FOR BOND ISSUANCE INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION?
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS THAT SOUTH CAROLINA STATUTES GIVE DORCHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL THE AUTHORITY TO COMBINE SEPARATE ISSUES FOR BOND ISSUANCE INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION?
- IV. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WHEN MAJORITY SUPPORT OR NON-SUPPORT FOR ONE ISSUE COULD CAUSE MAJORITY SUPPORT OR NON-SUPPORT FOR ANOTHER ISSUE THAT WOULD NOT HAVE RECEIVED MAJORITY SUPPORT OR NON-SUPPORT STANDING ALONE?
- V. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WHEN THE PRECEDENT OF ALLOWING TWO ISSUES TO BE COMBINED INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION WOULD ALLOW MULTIPLE ADDITIONAL ISSUES, UNLIMITED IN NUMBER, TO BE COMBINED INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 13, 2016, Appellants filed a complaint against Respondents, alleging causes of action for declaratory and injunctive relief challenging Dorchester County's placement in a referendum a single ballot question containing two different issues. (R. pp. 12-51).

On December 12, 2016, the Respondents filed their answer to the complaint. (R. pp. 52-58).

On June 16, 2017, the Respondents filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. (R. pp. 112-113). On December 11, 2017, the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson granted Judgment on

the Pleadings. (R. pp. 1-9). The Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Order on December 20, 2017. (R. pp. 144-150). On February 7, 2018, the Circuit Court issued an Order denying the Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's Order (R. pp. 10-11).

Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on March 5, 2018.

FACTS

On July 18, 2016 Dorchester County Council passed an ordinance requiring that a referendum be held on November 8, 2016 on the question of whether Dorchester County should issue bonds for two different purposes and amounts: one for \$30 million for the library system and another for \$13 million for the park system, all contained within only one question. (R. p. 21).

State Senator Paul Thurmond sent a letter dated September 8, 2016 to the Attorney General of South Carolina asking for an opinion about whether Dorchester County's combining authorization for a library bond issue with one for parks, instead of stating them separately in the referendum question, would be "legally permissible." (R. pp. 21-22).

On September 30, 2016, the Attorney General of South Carolina issued an Opinion, attached and incorporated as part of the Complaint, stating in part the following regarding the legality of combining separate issues for bond issuance into one referendum question:

It is for all of the above reasons we are in agreement with the concerns expressed in your letter and believe a court will likely determine neither the Constitution nor the General Assembly intended to give a county council the authority to combine multiple separate issues for bond issuance into one referendum question, that Article X, § 14(4) of the South Carolina Constitution authorizes a purpose in the singular on the ballot. Moreover . . . your concerns are further supported by our State's case law and general bond referendum case law expressed by McQuillin.

(R p. 21).

Attorneys for the Plaintiffs sent the Dorchester County Attorney a letter dated October 3, 2016, attached and incorporated as part of the Complaint, providing the County Attorney a copy of the Attorney General Opinion dated September 30, 2016, and asking that Dorchester County take corrective action either to separate the two issues concerning parks on the one hand and libraries on the other into two different questions to be voted on separately in the referendum or, alternatively, to cancel the referendum. Dorchester County refused to take any of the actions requested in the letter. (R. p. 22).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12 (c), SCRPC, the court must regard all properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted. Russell v. Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 87, 406 S.E.2d 338, 338 (1991). On review of the motion, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings. Firemen's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 235, 394 S.E.2d 855, 856 (Ct. App. 1990).

A judgment on the pleadings against the plaintiff is not proper if there is an issue of fact raised by the complaint which, if resolved in favor of the plaintiff, would entitle him to judgment. . . . When a fact is well pleaded, any inference of law or conclusions of fact that may properly arise therefrom are to be regarded as embraced in the averment. Moreover, a complaint is sufficient if it states any cause of action or it appears that the plaintiff is entitled to any relief whatsoever. Our courts have held that pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. Russell, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339 (citations omitted). Furthermore, "a judgment on the pleadings is considered to be a drastic procedure by our courts." *Id.*

Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 286-87, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WHEN DECIDING WHETHER A PARTICULAR BOND REFERENDUM QUESTION COULD BE MISLEADING OR COULD DISTORT THE VOTING RESULTS IS A FACTUAL DETERMINATION.

A judgment on the pleadings is only appropriate if there are no factual issues to be decided by the court and the allegations of the complaint and all inferences from those facts state no causes of action upon which the court could grant relief to the plaintiff. Russell, 305 S.C. at 89, 406 S.E.2d at 339.

As pointed out by the Attorney General's opinion attached to the Complaint, the questions in any ballot referendum challenge are (1) whether the language as stated may confuse or mislead the voter, see, Op. S.C. Atty.Gen., September 30, 2016, page 3, citing, e.g., Lowery v. Bright, 234 S.C. 279, 107 S.E.2d 769 (1959); Op. S.C. Atty.Gen., May 8, 2003), and (2) whether combining two issues into one question on a referendum ballot would deprive voters of the ability to vote on each issue separately and could cause support for one issue to cause passage of another issue that would not pass if the other issue were voted on alone. See, Op. S.C. Atty.Gen., September 30, 2016, pages 4-5, citing 15 McQuillin Mun. Corp. ¶ 40:9 (3d ed.), citing Wood v. Ross, 85 S.C. 309, 67 S.E. 449 (1910); McDaniel v. Bristol, 160 S.C. 408, 158 S.E. 804 (1931).

Throughout the Complaint, the referendum as stated was alleged to have “[caused] confusion and the making of each of those issues more or less likely to obtain or fail to obtain a majority by being voted on together than if they were voted on separately...” (R. pp. 22-23, ¶ 39; p. 23 ¶ 42; p. 24 ¶ 45; pp. 24-25, ¶ 48; p. 25, ¶ 51 ; p. 26, ¶ 54).

Given the allegations of the Complaint, including the issues raised in the Attorney General's opinion and other attachments, there are factual issues to be decided by this court and the trial court erred, under Rule 12(c), SCRCP, in rendering judgment on the pleadings.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION GIVES THE DORCHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL THE AUTHORITY TO COMBINE MULTIPLE SEPARATE ISSUES FOR BOND ISSUANCE INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION.

Article X, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution authorizes a county to “incur bonded indebtedness . . . within the limitations set forth in this section and Section 12 of this article.” S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(2). One of those constitutional limitations applicable in this case specifies that general obligation debt “may be incurred only for **a purpose** that is **a public purpose** and which is **a corporate purpose** . . .” S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4) (emphasis added).

Thus, the South Carolina Constitution allows the issuance of bonds for general obligation debt¹ only for a purpose in the singular, not in the plural. S.C. Code Ann. 2-7-30's purporting to define that the use of “purpose” in the singular also means “purposes” in the plural cannot alter the meaning of S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4)'s single purpose requirement that general obligation debt be incurred only for “a purpose” in the singular, as articulated throughout Op. S.C. Atty.Gen., September 30, 2016, and highlighted in the discussion in McQuillin Mun. Corp. § 40:9 (3d ed.) and the cases of, e.g., Johnson v Roddey, 83 S.C. 462, 65 S.E. 626 (1909) and Ross v Lipscomb, 83 S.C. 136, 65 S.E. 451 (1909), which remain in effect to this day.

¹ The indebtedness at issue in this case is general obligation bond debt. See (R. pp. 20, 22)

The issuance of bonds in this case for libraries and for parks are two separate purposes in the plural, not one purpose in the singular.² The referendum question combining the issues of funding libraries and parks is not, and does not even purport to be, for one purpose, but clearly states two different questions for two different purposes, one for libraries and one for parks. Therefore, the referendum question combining two issues into one in this case is unconstitutional.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS THAT SOUTH CAROLINA STATUTES GIVE DORCHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL THE AUTHORITY TO COMBINE SEPARATE ISSUES FOR BOND ISSUANCE INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION.

The General Assembly has shown it knows how to promulgate statutes expressly authorizing funding for more than one purpose when it intends to do so. See, e.g., the Capital Project Sales Tax Act (S.C. Code § 4-10-300 et seq.)(authorizes a referendum "for a specific purpose or purposes." S.C. Code § 4-10-310; Op. S.C. Att'y Gen., 2004 WL 1 182081 (S.C.A.G. May 20, 2004)(emphasis added)); S.C. Code § 4-37-30 (authorizes a referendum for the "project or projects for which the proceeds of the tax are to be used." (emphasis added)).

Moreover, South Carolina Code § 7-13-400 specifies the form for the ballot for the issuance of bonds. The form uses the language "in favor of the question or issue (as the case may be)" and "opposed to the question or issue (as the case may be)." Thus, the legislative intent from the plain language of the ballot as required by this statute has each "question" or "issue" listed separately when multiple questions or issues are in a bond referendum. S.C. Code § 7-13-400.

² S.C. Code Ann. §§ 4-9-35(5), 4-9-35, 4-9-39 specify the duties of a county regarding the creation and funding of libraries. (R. p. 20). S.C. Code Ann. § 51-15-330 specifies the authority of a municipality to call for a referendum regarding the issuance of bonds for parks and recreation. (R. p. 21). Thus, as provided by the Legislature, the funding of libraries and the funding of parks and recreation are separate issues.

South Carolina courts have held that certain utility bond issues could be voted on in one bond referendum question only when expressly allowed by statute and when the questions combined are naturally related. Thus, Waits v. Town of Ninety-Six, 154 S.C. 350, 151 S.E. 576, 578 (1930) allowed the purposes of funding sewer, water and lighting with bonds to be combined into one question only because a statute specifically authorized those naturally related issues to be combined. However, and in contrast, the South Carolina Supreme Court previously had struck down a referendum question combining those three items before a statute was passed allowing those items to be combined into one question. Ross v. Lipscomb, 83 S.C. 136, 65 S.E. 451 (1909).

In this case, no statute allows the combining of the questions of whether to authorize bonds for the two different purposes of parks and for libraries into one referendum issue. On the contrary, the General Assembly has passed legislation regarding the funding of libraries and parks separately,³ thereby indicating its intent for the funding of libraries and parks to be separate issues.

Specifically, the General Assembly passed legislation authorizing a bond referendum for a library pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-39, but nowhere therein or elsewhere indicates that the issue of funding parks or any other matter can be combined with the issue of funding libraries. Similarly, the General Assembly passed legislation specifically authorizing a bond referendum for a public park pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 51-15-330, but nowhere therein or elsewhere indicates that the issue of funding libraries or any other matter can be combined with the issue of funding parks. If the Legislature had intended that libraries and

³ See footnote 2, supra.

parks could be combined as one issue in a bond referendum, it would have said so, as it has allowed combining referendum issues as one question in other statutes as referenced above.

The defendants cite S.C. Code Ann. § 2-7-30, a rule of construction for statutory language, as stating that the Constitutional provision can be read in the plural. The defendants also argue that other statutes interpret singular language as plural. That argument is flawed for two reasons.

First, the statute does not control interpretation of the Constitution. Only a constitutional provision can dictate the interpretation and construction of the Constitution.

Second, the argument does not challenge in any way the validity of the single purpose rule, articulated throughout the Attorney General's Opinion, and highlighted in the discussion of McQuillin Mun. Corp. § 40:9 (3d ed.) and the cases of, e.g., Johnson v Roddey, 83 S.C. 462, 65 S.E. 626 (1909) and Ross v Lipscomb, 83 S.C. 136, 65 S.E. 451 (1909), which remain in effect to this day.

In fact, though the defendants argue that the passage of Home Rule, in 1973, somehow changed or invalidated the single-purpose rule, there is no decision or statute cited that contradicts this rule or the principle behind it that, absent constitutional or statutory authorization to the contrary, multiple issues may not be combined on the same bond referendum ballot without specific statutory authority to do so, but must be stated separately, even if they are on the same ballot. See, Op.S.C.Att'y.Gen., September 30, 2016, page 4-5, citing McQuillin Mun. Corp. § 40:9 (3d ed.) and various citations therein.

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WHEN MAJORITY SUPPORT OR NON-SUPPORT FOR ONE ISSUE COULD CAUSE MAJORITY SUPPORT ON NON-SUPPORT FOR

ANOTHER ISSUE THAT WOULD NOT HAVE RECEIVED MAJORITY SUPPORT OR NON-SUPPORT STANDING ALONE.

It may be impossible to determine factually whether majority support to fund the libraries caused majority support to fund the parks, or the parks, the libraries. However, no factual determination that majority or non-majority support for one issue caused majority support or non-support for the other issue is necessary to invalidate a referendum combining two issues into one question. The mere fact that majority support or non-support of one issue could have caused majority support or non-support of the other issue, standing alone, requires invalidation of the referendum that combined two issues into one question. That is true because combining the two issues into one question could have prevented voters from voting on each issue on its individual merits and inherently created uncertainty and confusion about whether a majority voted for or against each issue on its individual merits, and voters opposing one issue could be prejudiced by that issue receiving a majority vote because of its linkage with the other issue receiving a majority vote, instead of that first issue receiving a non-majority vote on its own merits. See Op. S.C. Atty.Gen., September 30, 2016, pages 4-5, citing 15 McQuillin Mun. Corp. ¶40:9 (3d ed.) (citing Wood v. Ross, 85 S.C. 309, 67 S.E. 449 (1910); McDaniel v. Bristol, 160 S.C. 408, 158 S.E. 804 (1931)).

Article X, § 14(4) of the South Carolina Constitution supports the principle that “the purpose of a bond referendum [is] to ‘determine the will of the voters upon the assumption of public debt to the amount of and for **the object** proposed.’” Op.S.C.Atty.Gen., September 30, 2016, page 3, citing Op.S.C.Atty.Gen., May 8, 2003 and Fairfax County Taxpayers Alliance v. Bd. Of County Supervisors of Fairfax, 202 Va. 462, 117 S.E. 2d 753 (1961) (emphasis added). By allowing multiple issues to be combined into one question on a ballot, it is impossible to know which

singular issue the voters may approve or disapprove on their individual merits and is likely to lead to voter confusion on whether the bond issues are somehow related or separate and on whether multiple issues that passed did so on each of its own merits or because, instead, merely because the passage of one popular issue caused passage of one or more other less popular issues.

V. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS WHEN THE PRECEDENT OF ALLOWING TWO ISSUES TO BE COMBINED INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION WOULD ALLOW MULTIPLE ADDITIONAL ISSUES; UNLIMITED IN NUMBER, TO BE COMBINED INTO ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION.

If the Court allows the two separate issues of bond funding of parks and libraries to be combined into one referendum question, nothing would prevent local governments in South Carolina in the future from “loading up” multiple unpopular referendum issues with one or more popular referendum issues into one question, calculating that the popular issue or issues would cause passage of the unpopular issue or issues. Indeed, if two separate issues can be combined into one referendum question, then twenty, two hundred or any number of issues could be combined into one referendum ballot question. Unpopular issues that would not pass on their own merits could be passed solely due to their linkage to popular issues that do pass on their own merits. Uncertainty and confusion could result as to whether particular issues passed due to their merits or merely due to linkage with other issues that passed because they were popular. That is inherently unfair to the citizens and voters and clearly is not good policy or what the South Carolina Constitution or the General Assembly intended or permits.

CONCLUSION

The allegations of the complaint, together with the authorities cited herein and the attachments including the S.C. Attorney General's opinion, demonstrate that the Dorchester County ballot which combined two separate and unrelated issues in a single question is invalid on its face because: (1) the South Carolina Constitution and the Legislature does not authorize, but bars combining two issues into one question in a referendum; (2) combining separate issues into one question could cause one question to be passed or defeated because the other question is passed or defeated, and could mislead, confuse and create uncertainty among citizens and voters; and (3) allowing two issues to be combined into one referendum question would allow local governments to combine multiple additional issues, unlimited in number, into one referendum question.

On a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the trial court must look to the pleadings only, and if there are any factual issues presented there that could be decided in favor of the plaintiff, the court must deny the motion. There were a number of factual and legal issues presented by the Complaint that made the grant of judgment on the pleadings reversible error.

Given these errors of law, the trial court erred in granting the motion of the defendants for judgment on the pleadings.