THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

JUL 17 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson

---

Case No. 2016-CP-18-1975  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000395

---

Gerard E. Ziegler; Brenda Barrington III; James Stephen Greene, Jr.; William A. Harbeson;  
David Messinger; South Carolina Public Interest Foundation; and Dorchester County Taxpayers  
Association, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,..... Appellants,

v.

Dorchester County; Dorchester County Council; Charles D. Chinnis, George H. Bailey, Sr., Jay

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

There is no dispute that Council could lawfully call a referendum on the question of \$30,000,000 in bonds for library facilities. Likewise there is no dispute that Council could lawfully call a referendum on the question of \$13,000,000 in bonds for recreational facilities. Plaintiff Appellants' contention, in reliance on the AG Opinion and its reasoning, is that it was unlawful for Council to call a referendum on a single question to authorize bonds for library facilities and recreational facilities.

Plaintiff Appellants' argument is built around the following contentions.

- The word “purpose,” as used in S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4) and in S.C. Code § 4-15-20 and -30(A) of the County Bond Act, is grammatically singular, and so the purpose as stated in a bond referendum must be singular. Complaint, ¶¶ 26-28, 37-48 (R. pp. 20-25.), and Ex. 1 thereto (AG Opinion), pp. 1-2, 9. (R. pp. 30-31, 38.)
- South Carolina election laws, at S.C. Code § 7-13-400, refer to “the question or issue” and “the proposition” to be voted upon using those grammatically singular words, and so the question may not refer to more than one thing. Complaint, ¶¶ 49-51 (R. p. 25), and Ex. 1 thereto (AG Opinion), pp. 2, 9. (R. pp. 31, 38.)
- There is a common law, quasi-constitutional principle against combining two issues into a single question for voter approval. Complaint, ¶32 (R. p. 21), and Ex. 1 thereto (AG Opinion), pp. 3-8. (R. pp. 32-37.)
- Voters must be allowed to voice their opinions separately on each “issue,” “matter,” or “purpose” involved in what is put before them. Complaint, ¶¶ 39, 42, 45, 48, 51 and 54. (R. pp. 22-26.)

The rebuttals by defendants County and Council are summarized as follows and elaborated in the remainder of the ARGUMENT.

- A long-standing South Carolina statute, S.C. Code § 2-7-30, requires that singular forms be construed to include the plural, thus definitively invalidating the Plaintiff Appellants' and the AG Opinion's conclusion on that point.

- Other constitutional and statutory evidence demonstrate that the use of a grammatically singular form does not preclude consideration of multiple projects in one question.
- If either the Constitution or a general quasi-constitutional principle forbids the inclusion of more than one project in a single question, then the Capital Project Sales Tax Act, S.C. Code § 4-10-300 *et seq.*, is invalid, thus disrupting large-scale, long-term project financing arrangements for a number of counties and depriving all counties of a valuable tool of proven workability.
- Constitutional and statutory provisions relied upon by Plaintiff Appellants relate to the issuance of bonds and not to a referendum to authorize bonds. Consequently, their conclusion with regard to constitutional and statutory interpretation (i) does not apply to a bond referendum ballot, and/or (ii) leads to an even more inconveniently absurd result when applied to the issuance of bonds.
- Plaintiff Appellants, through the AG Opinion, rely on treatises and cases in finding a common law principle against combining purposes in a ballot question, while ignoring (i) the pre-Home Rule age of the cases, (ii) the fact that the case cited most extensively in the AG Opinion relates to surety bonds and has nothing whatsoever to do with government indebtedness bonds, (iii) the fact that the results there were mandated by specific statutory provisions, and (iv) the fact that most if not all of the cases relied on by the treatises actually upheld the referenda in question.
- Applying the test described in STANDARD OF REVIEW (Footnote 2, above), the County’s 2016 referendum question is not only not impermissibly confusing; it is not confusing at all.
- The approach of both the courts and the General Assembly of South Carolina is to recognize the incurrence of bonded indebtedness as a single subject.
- Neither the Complaint nor the AG Opinion sets out workable criteria for determining when two items are so distinct as to require two separate questions.

**II. THE APPEARANCE OF CERTAIN NOUNS IN SINGULAR FORM IN CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS CITED BY PLAINTIFF APPELLANTS – S.C. CONST. ART. X, § 14(4), S.C. CODE § 4-15-20 AND -30, AND S.C. CODE § 7-13-400 – DOES NOT FORBID CONSIDERATION OF LIBRARY FACILITIES AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES IN ONE REFERENDUM QUESTION.**

*Long-standing South Carolina statute, S.C. Code § 2-7-30, requires that singular forms be construed to include the plural, thus definitively invalidating the Plaintiff Appellants’ and the AG Opinion’s conclusion on that point.*

The heart of the Complaint and the AG Opinion is that the word “purpose,” as used in S.C. Const. art. X, §14(4) – “General obligation debt may be incurred only for a purpose” –and

in several sections of the County Bond Act must be singular and cannot include anything that smacks of a plural. The Complaint and the AG Opinion argue similarly with regard to the singular forms of “the question or issue” and “the proposition” in S.C. Code § 7-13-400, which governs ballot forms in all South Carolina elections. However, South Carolina has (and has had since before 1872) a statute, currently codified at S.C. Code Ann. § 2-7-30, that controls how singular and plural words are to be construed in South Carolina enactments.

The words “person” and “party” and any other word importing the singular number used in any act or joint resolution shall be held to include the plural . . . .

This Court applied S.C. Code § 2-7-30 about the same time as Article X was being adopted. In holding that a statute that created a singular office (“a ministerial recorder,” “the person” elected) would nevertheless allow for the utilization of multiple positions, the Court wrote:

The question of the proper construction of this language has been resolved by § 30-203 of the South Carolina Code (1962) [*the earlier codification of § 2-7-30*]. It states inter alia ‘The words ‘person’ and ‘party’ and any other word importing the singular number used in any act or joint resolution shall be held to include the plural . . . .’

*State v. Sachs*, 264 S.C. 541, 551, 216 S.E.2d 501, 506 (1975).

Plaintiff Appellants object that Article X is not a statute nor a joint resolution. But Article X was formulated and proposed by joint resolution and, after approval by the State’s voters, was ratified by a statute, those being S.C. Joint Resolution No. 750 (1976 S.C. Acts 2217) and S.C. Act No. 71 (1977 S.C. Acts 90), with § 2-7-30 already long on the books and recently enforced by *State v Sachs*. Each of that joint resolution and that act sets forth the full text of new Article X. The meaning of that text in the Constitution cannot be different from what it was in that joint resolution and that Act, both of which pre-date the constitutional provision and both of which are controlled by § 2-7-30.

S.C. Code § 2-7-30 alone is sufficient to negate the Plaintiff Appellants' contention on this point. However, even if that statute were not on the books, its rule is standard, a common sense rule that appears in the boilerplate of most contracts. In his treatise on canons of construction of legal texts, the late Justice Scalia refers to the analogous Federal Definition Act, the very first section of the United States Code, which sets forth rules for construing acts of Congress. It also equates the singular and plural forms: "words importing the singular include and apply to several persons, parties, or things; words importing the plural include the singular . . ." 1 U.S. Code § 1. Justice Scalia describes that provision thus: "The rule is simply a matter of common sense and everyday linguistic experience . . . . The best drafting practice, in fact, is to use the singular number . . .;" and, after citing Jeremy Bentham on the same point, Justice Scalia concludes: "His point is well taken – which is why books on legal drafting recommend using the singular over the plural." Scalia and Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts*, "Canon 14. Gender/Number Canon: In the absence of a contrary indication, the masculine includes the feminine (and vice versa) and the singular includes the plural (and vice versa)," pp. 129-131 (2012).

*Other constitutional and statutory evidence demonstrate that the use of a grammatically singular form does not preclude consideration of multiple projects in one question.*

Where the constitutional or legislative intent has been to prevent the combination of two or more matters into a single ballot question, that intent has been explicit and unambiguous. For example, S.C. Const. art. XVI, § 2, provides that "If two or more [*constitutional*] amendments shall be submitted at the same time, they shall be submitted in such manner that the electors shall vote for or against each of such amendments separately." There is no such explicit statement, either constitutional or statutory, with regard to county bond referenda.

The local government debt provision of the Constitution, S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4) upon which Plaintiff Appellant relies, has a counterpart for State debt in S.C. Const. art. X, §13(3), which similarly requires a “purpose” [*singular form*]. That provision was added to the Constitution by Act No. 71 (1977 S.C. Acts 90), ratified May 4, 1977, effective November 30, 1977. Shortly after that adoption, S.C. Act No. 249 (1977 S.C. Acts 827) (effective June 14, 1977), authorized in a single statute State general obligation bonds for multiple projects including, for example, purchase of an airplane, purchase of educational and vocational equipment, armory roof repair, construction of an airport, various building design services, and dormitory construction. That long-standing practice of authorizing multiple unrelated projects in a single statute (by the ongoing amendment of S.C. Act No. 1377 (1968 S.C. Acts 3175, known as the State Bond Act) continued thereafter, despite the singular “purpose” requirement. See, for example, S.C. Act No. 1, Part II, § 1 (2001 S.C. Acts 20).

In addition, the County Bond Act provides that a county may issue bonds “to defray the cost of any authorized purpose” (S.C. Code § 4-15-30), and defines “authorized purpose” as “any purpose for which the county might, under the applicable constitutional provisions, issue bonds or levy taxes” (S.C. Code § 4-15-20(2)) [*emphasis added*]. This singular form of the emphasized provisions is one of the key underpinnings of Plaintiff Appellants’ argument. In each instance, however, the word “any” precedes the singular form; and “the word ‘any’ in its common acceptance means ‘one or more,’ and our Supreme Court has so defined it in *State v. Antonio*, 3 Brev. 567, where it was held that ‘any’ means “one or more.” *Lucas v. Barringer*, 120 S.C. 68, 85 112 S.E. 746, 52 (1922).<sup>5</sup> Consequently, each of “any purpose” and “any authorized purpose”

---

<sup>5</sup> *Lucas* was cited by a Corpus Juris Secundum article, which was in turn cited in *Fairfax Cty. Taxpayers All. v. Bd. of Cty. Sup'rs of Fairfax Cty.*, 202 Va. 462, 117 S.E.2d 753 (1961), a

is, by its statutory definition and based on accepted principles of construction, plural despite its singular form.

Plaintiff Appellants attempt to draw a negative inference from a comparison of the County Bond Act and the Capital Project Sales Tax Act (S.C. Code § 4-10-300 *et seq.*). The Capital Project Sales Tax Act in § 4-10-310 states that a county may impose a sales tax “by ordinance, subject to a referendum, within the County area for a specific purpose or purposes” and in § 4-10-330(D) affirmatively requires all projects to be incorporated into a single ballot question. Overlooked, however, is the specific requirement in § 4-10-330 that the ordinance must specify “(1) the purpose [*singular*] for which the proceeds of the tax are to be used, which may include projects [*plural*]. . . and may include the following types of projects [*plural*]” (followed by a list ranging from highways to courthouses to libraries to recreational and cultural facilities to water and sewer projects to beach re-nourishment and any combination thereof). This shifting from plural to singular and back to plural, all within one financing statute, clearly indicates that use of the grammatically singular word “purpose” does not carry all of the intentional weight that Plaintiff Appellants ascribe to it and that it may readily, even necessarily, encompass multiple, unrelated projects.

Plaintiff Appellants also recite South Carolina election law, S.C. Code § 7-13-400, that voters be allowed to vote on “the question or issue” or “the proposition.” That statute relates to the form of ballot when questions are submitted; it has nothing to do with what can be contained in the question under consideration. It simply says that the ballot must require one to vote “in favor of the question or issue.” The County’s 2016 referendum did precisely that. There was a single question on which each elector had to vote yes or no.

---

case heavily relied upon by Plaintiff-Appellants via the AG Opinion, as one of the cases behind the asserted general common law principle discussed below.

*If either the Constitution or a general quasi-constitutional principle forbids the inclusion of more than one project in a single question, then the Capital Project Sales Tax Act, S.C. Code § 4-10-300 et seq., is invalid, thus disrupting large-scale, long-term project financing arrangements for a number of counties and depriving all counties of a valuable tool of proven workability.*

As noted above, the Capital Projects Sales Tax Act, S.C. Code § 4-10-300 *et seq.*, requires a single question on all projects proposed to be financed thereunder. If there is a general (constitutional or quasi-constitutional) prohibition against joint submission of questions, then the Capital Project Sales Tax Act would be unconstitutional. In an *amicus curiae* brief filed with this Court in *State v. County of Florence*, 406 S.C. 169, 749 S.E.2d 516 (2013), the South Carolina Association of Counties advised on September 26, 2013, that fourteen counties were then relying on the Capital Projects Sales Tax Act for their long-term capital project financing needs. Invalidating that Act would be severely disruptive both to governmental planning and to financial markets for outstanding bonds.<sup>6</sup>

*Constitutional and statutory provisions relied upon by Plaintiff Appellants relate to the issuance of bonds and not to a referendum to authorize bonds. Consequently, their conclusion with regard to constitutional and statutory interpretation (i) does not apply to a bond referendum ballot, and/or (ii) leads to an even more inconveniently absurd result when applied to the issuance of bonds.*

Plaintiff Appellants rely on the singular form of the word “purpose” in S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4). But the restriction of S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4) refers to the issuance of general obligation debt, which is accomplished by the elected governing body of a political subdivision; it does **not** refer to the authorization to exceed the debt limit, which is the matter that requires an approving vote of the electorate. See S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(6). Although the referendum provision (§ 14(6)) does not allow a referendum to authorize bonds not contemplated by the

---

<sup>6</sup> *State v. County of Florence* allowed a multi-project referendum to proceed, but the question of the plural aspect of the projects was not directly raised in that case.

issuance provision (§ 14(4)), it contains no restriction on the form of ballot. Consequently, the Plaintiff Appellants and the AG Opinion are focused on text that is irrelevant to the question at hand.

Moreover, applying a “necessarily singular” rule to the requirements for the issuance of bonds in S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4) and S.C. Code § 4-15-30 where singular forms actually appear (as opposed to just the ballots for exceeding debt limit, where singular forms do not appear) leads to a grossly impractical, inefficient, costly, and absurd effect. If “purpose” is singular only, then each bond issuance must also be for a singular purpose. See S.C. Const. art. X, § 14(4) and S.C. Code § 4-15-30. So that, if a county needed to issue bonds for a library, a park, a courthouse, new police vehicles, new fire protection vehicles, and a new jail (even where it could do so within its debt limit and without a referendum), it would have to issue six sets of bonds and incur six times the usual cost of issuing bonds – even though the bonds would be identical except for which invoices get paid with which proceeds. Such multiplication of bond issues is contrary to the universal practice of counties in South Carolina, which regularly issue bonds for multiple purposes, in order to secure for their taxpayers the advantages of efficiencies of scale, avoidance of duplication, and more attractive interest rates.

Plaintiff Appellants also note that there are separate statutes in the South Carolina Code of Laws related to parks and libraries – S.C. Code § 4-9-39 (libraries) and S.C. Code § 51-15-330 (parks). That fact is dispositive of nothing related to this case. Especially irrelevant is the reference to Section 51-15-330, which has nothing to do with counties at all. Instead, that statute relates to cities with populations between 36,000 and 55,000. See S.C. Code § 51-15-110 (1). While S.C. Code § 4-9-39 does relate to county libraries, it merely sets up the annual funding mechanism for county library systems; it has nothing to do with authorizing a bond referendum

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